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HOLLY KIRBY LILLARD, J.

CONCURS:

W. FRANK CRAWFORD, P.J., W.S.
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OPINION

Thisisacivil rights casefiled by aprisoner. The plaintiff was convicted in 1982 of aiding and
abetting second degree murder. On July 14, 1997 hefiled acivil rightsclam againg the judge who
presided at histria, the prosecutor who prosecuted his case, his court appointed public defender, the
director of the public defender’ s office, and the county court clerk, aleging that they had conspired to
deprive him of his condtitutiond rights. Four of the defendants filed amotion to dismissfor fallureto
dateaclam. Theremaining defendant, the court clerk, filed amotion for summary judgment. Thetrid
court granted both motions. The plaintiff appeds. We affirm.

Raintiff/Appelant Ronad L. Davis (“Davis”) was convicted on November 13, 1982, in the
Maury County Circuit Court of aiding and abetting second degree murder, and sentenced to 99 yearsin
prison. Judge James C. Weatherford (“Wesatherford”) presided at histria. The prosecutor was
Assigtant Digtrict Attorney General Robert C. Sanders (“Sanders”). Daviswas represented by William
C. Bright (“Bright™) of the Maury County Public Defender’ s Office. Davis’ conviction was affirmed on
direct appea on September 11, 1984. His application for permission to apped to the Tennessee
Supreme Court was denied on January 7, 1985.

Davisfiled apogt-conviction petition in 1984, which was dismissed by the Circuit Court in
1985. OnMay 13, 1986, the Court of Crimina Appeals upheld the dismissal. On May 8, 1996,
Davisfiled amotion to reopen his post-conviction petition. Inthismotion, Davis aleged that Sanders
had made discriminatory statementsat histrid, that there was discrimination in the selection of jury
members, evidenced by the lack of women or minorities on the jury, and that Judge Weatherford,
Prosecutor Sanders, Attorney Bright, and Shara A Flacy (“Hacy”), Director of the Maury County
Public Defender’ s Office, had al engaged in aconspiracy to prevent him from having these
discrimination charges heard in court.

On July 3, 1997, Judge Weatherford held a hearing on Davis’ motion to reopen the
post-conviction petition. Davisalegesthat, a that hearing, Sanders told Judge Weetherford that Davis’

motion had been dismissed by Westherford in June 1996.* Davis saysthat he never received notice of
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thedismissd of hismotion.

OnJuly 14, 1997, Davisfiled acivil rights complaint against Wesatherford, Sanders, Bright,
Hacy, and Maury County Court Clerk Kathy Kdly (“Kdly”). He dleged that Weatherford, Sanders,
Bright and Flacy deprived him of his congtitutiona rights, both during hisorigind trid and inthe
post-conviction proceedings by, inter alia, discriminating againgt him because of hisrace, making
arbitrary and capricious decisions regarding his post-conviction motions, and engaging in aconspiracy to
prevent him from having meaningful accessto the courts, inviolation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983,42 U.S.C. 8§
1985, and Tennessee Code Annotated § 28-3-104. He dlleged that Kelly participated in the
conspiracy by failing to notify him of Weetherford’ s June 1996 dismissal of hismotion to reopen his
post-conviction petition.

Davis clam againg Sandersis based on discriminatory statements Sanders dlegedly made at or
during histrid, and on Sanders’ s participation in the purported conspiracy to prevent the charges of
discrimination from being heard. Davis’ clam againgt Weatherford is based on Westherford allowing an
al white, malejury a Davis' 1982 trial, on Westherford’ srefusdl to grant Davis' 1997 request for
another court-gppointed attorney to replace Bright on his motion to reopen the post-conviction petition,
and on Weatherford’ s participation in the dleged conspiracy to discriminate againgt him and prevent his
dlegations of discrimination from being heard in court. Davis' clam againg Bright isbased on Bright’s
participation in the generd ongoing congpiracy, on Bright’ srefusal to amend Davis' 1996 motion to
reopen the post-conviction petition to include alegations of discrimination that Davis wanted heard, and
on Bright’ sdleged lack of responseto Davis' phone calls and letters. Davis assertsthat Flacy was part
of the generd congpiracy, and that Flacy condoned and ratified Bright’ sactions. Davisbasesthe clam
againg Circuit Court Clerk Kelly on her purported failure to notify him of Weatherford’ s June 1996
order dismissing Davis' motion to reopen his post-conviction petition.

Davis sought a declaratory judgment that the defendants’ dleged actions violated his rights under
the United States and Tennessee Condtitutions, apreliminary and permanent injunction requiring Judge

Westherford to grant him ahearing on his aleged discrimination claims, and atrid by jury ondl triable
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matters. Davisaso asked for an order requiring Sanders to remove himself from the case, and requiring

Weatherford to appoint other counsd to replace Bright. Findly, Davis
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sought damages of $75,000 for menta anguish and emotiona distress, and $100,000 for pain and
suffering.

On August 11, 1997, defendant Kathy Kelly filed amotion for summary judgment. In support
of her summary judgment motion, Kelly submitted an affidavit asserting that she had followed the usua
and proper proceduresin filing the June 1996 Order dismissing Davis’ post conviction petition, and that
no order had yet been entered from the July 3, 1997 hearing. She denied participation in any
congpiracy. On August 12, 1997, the other four defendants filed amotion to dismissfor failure to Sate
aclam. Themotion to dismisswas based on the doctrines of immunity, res judicata, and collatera
estoppel, aswell asthe applicable statute of limitations. On October 1, 1998 the tria court dismissed
with prejudice the clams against Westherford, Sanders, Bright and Flacy. Thetria court did not
elaborate on itsreasons for granting the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Davisfiled aNotice of Appea on October 7, 1998. That appea was dismissed without
prejudice because the judgment of thetria court was not final, snce Davis’ daim againg Kedly wasill
outstanding.

On February 4, 1999, Davisfiled amotion seeking aruling on the pleadings. On February 24,
1999, thetrial court entered an order granting defendant Kelly’ smotion. Davis now appeals both the
dismissa of hisclams againg defendants Westherford, Sanders, Bright and Flacy, and the entry of
summary judgment in favor of defendant Kdly.

On gppedl, Davis argues that the trid court erred in granting the defendants’ motion to dismiss
because thetria court failed to articulate any “factud or legal basisfor itsdismissa,” and because it
should have accorded his pro se complaint alibera construction and construed his alegations astrue.
He arguesthat thetrial court improperly granted defendant Kelly’ smation for summeary judgment
because she did not file a separate concise statement of the disputed facts, because she did not indicate
that she had any persona knowledge of the aleged actions, and because Davis had presented evidence
that established agenuineissue of materia fact.

Defendants Wesetherford, Sanders, Bright and Hacy seek affirmance of thetrial court’sdismissal
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of the clams againgt them. They rely on avariety of grounds. Defendant Wegtherford relies on the
doctrine of judicid immunity. Prosecutor Sandersrelies on the doctrine of prosecutoria immunity.
Defendants Bright and Flacy assert that they were not acting under color of state law, asrequiredin
order to make out aclaim under 42 U.S.C. §1983. All four defendants assert that Davis' suit is based
on actionsthat occurred beyond the one year statute of limitationsin Tennessee Code Annotated 8
28-3-104, for civil actions brought under federa civil rights statutes.

Defendant Kelly arguesthat thetrid court properly granted her summary judgment because
Davis Complaint does not demonstrate any genuine issues of materid fact that would entitte him to
relief. She assertsthat, pursuant to loca custom, sherelied on Sanders’s signed certificate of service,
dtating that Davis had been mailed a copy of the order. Evenif Davisdid not receive notice of the
dismissd of hismotion, Kdly arguesthat it would not congtitute adenid of his meaningful accessto the
courts, since established law in Tennessee holdsthat, if apost conviction petitioner does not receive
notice of the dismissal of his petition, heis entitled to a hearing on his petition.

Wereview both thetrid court’ sdismissd of Plaintiff’ s clams against Weeatherford, Sanders,
Bright, and Flacy, and its grant of summary judgement to Kdly, de novo, with no presumption of
correctness of thetrial court’s conclusions of law. Tenn. R. App. P. 13(d). Onthetria court’sgrant of
the four defendants’ motion to dismiss:

A motion to dismissfor falure to state aclaim upon which relief can be granted teststhe

aufficiency of the complaint. The basisfor the motion isthat the dlegations contained in

the complaint, consdered aone and taken astrue, are insufficient to tateaclamasa

matter of law.
Pursell v. First American Nat. Bank, et al., 937 SW.2d 838, 840 (Tenn. 1996). Since only
questions of law areinvolved in the defendants’ motion to dismiss, our review of thetrid court’s
dismissd of the complaint is de novo with no presumption of correctness. See Owensv. Truckstops
of America, 915 SW.2d 420, 424 (Tenn. 1996).

A motion for summary judgment should be granted when the movant demongirates that there are

no genuine issues of materid fact and that the moving party is entitled to ajudgment as ameatter of law.
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Tenn. R. Civ. P. 56.03. See Byrdv. Hall, 847 SW.2d 208, 211 (Tenn. 1993). Summary judgment is
only appropriate when the facts and the lega conclusions drawn from the facts reasonably permit only
oneconclusion. Carvell v. Bottoms, 900 SW.2d 23, 26 (Tenn. 1995). Since only questions of law
areinvolved, thereis no presumption of correctness regarding atria court's grant of summary judgment.
Id. Therefore, our review of thetria court’ sgrant of summary judgment is de novo on the record

before this Court.
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Davis' lawsuit dlegesaviolation of the federa civil rights statutesat 42 U. S. C. 88 1983 and
1985, and on Tennessee Code Annotated § 28-3-104. Tennessee Code Annotated § 28-3-104
provides aone year Satute of limitationsfor civil actions brought under the federd civil rights statutes:

(& Thefollowing actions shal be commenced within one (1) year after the cause of
action accrued:

*kk%

(3) Civil actionsfor compensatory or punitive damages, or both, brought under the
federd civil rights Satutes,

*k*k%x

Tenn. Code Ann. § 28-3-104(a). Thus, Davis’ clamsare subject to the one year Satute of limitationsin
Tennessee Code Annotated 8 28-3-104. See Hoge v. Roy H. Park Broadcasting of Tennessee,
Inc., 673 SW.2d 157, 160 (Tenn. App. 1984). Claims based on Defendants’ dleged actions more
than one year prior to thefiling of hiscomplaint, including actions during Davis’'s 1982 murder trid, are
therefore, barred by the one year statute of limitations.

The only alleged actsthat occurred within one year preceding the July 14, 1997 filing of Davis’
Complaint are: Bright’ sfailure to respond to Davis’ phone calls and | etters and to amend the motion to
reopen the post-conviction petition to include issues of discrimination; Weatherford’ srefusa to honor
Davis' request for anew court-gppointed attorney to replace Bright; Sanders’ participaioninthe duly 3,
1997 hearing, and Sanders’ statement to Judge Westherford that Westherford had dismissed Davis’
motion in June 1996. These clamsare not barred by the one-year Satute of limitations. Accordingly,
wewill now consder Davis' claims based on these acts. Davisfirg arguesthat thetria court’s
dismissa of hiscomplaint against defendants Weatherford, Sanders, Bright and Flacy was error because
thetria court did not Sate its reasonsfor dismissing the complaint.

Thetrid court isnot required to Sate findings of fact or conclusonsof law in ruling on amation
filed under Rules12 or 56. See Tenn. R. Civ. P. 52.01. Therefore, thetria court was under no duty to
make findings of fact or conclusons of law regarding itsdismissd of Davis’ dams.

Davis next arguesthat thetriad court erred becauseit failed to liberdly construe hispro se

complaint and to take his dlegations of fact astrue.
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When congdering aparty’ smotion to dismiss, atrid court isto liberaly congtrue the plaintiff’s
complaint and to teke all of itsallegations of fact astrue. Huckeby v. Spangler, 521 SW.2d 568, 571
(Tenn. 1975). Thetrid court isjudtified in granting the motion to dismissonly if such facts, taken astrue,
do not congtitute a cause of action. Cornpropst v. Sloan, 528 S\W.2d 188, 190 (Tenn. 1975).

Davis' complaint wasfiled under two federd civil rights statutes, 42 U.S.C. 81983, and 42
U.S.C. §1985. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 givesacause of action againgt any person, who, under color of state
law, deprivesan individua of aright, privilege or immunity secured by the Congtitution or federa law:

§1983. Civil action for deprivation of rights

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage,

of any State or Territory or the Digtrict of Columbia, subjects, or causesto be

subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof

to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Contitution and

laws, shdl beliableto the party injured. . .

42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1994). Wewill consider thetrid court’sgrant of the motion to dismissasto each
defendant.

Judge Westherford asserts on gpped that the dismissa of Davis' damsagaingt him should be
affirmed based on the doctrine of judicid immunity. The doctrine of judicia immunity developed at
common law to protect judges from civil suits for damages based on actionstaken in their judicia
capacity. Pierson v. Ray, 386 U.S. 547, 554 (1967). “Few doctrines were more solidly established
at common law than the immunity of judges from liability for damagesfor acts committed within their
judicid jurisdiction.” 1d. Theimmunity appliesregardiess of thejudge’ smotivefor hisact, and isfor the
benefit of the public, to ensure that judges are at liberty to perform their judicia dutiesindependently,
and free from the fear that they may be sued for their actions. Id. See also Heath v. Cornelius, 511
S\W.2d 683, 684 (Tenn. 1974) (holding that alegations that judge acted with malice did not abrogate
hisjudicid immunity for acts hetook in hisjudicid capacity). In Pierson, 386 U.S. at 554, the United

States Supreme Court held that judicial immunity extends to suits brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. In

Stump v. Sparkman, 453 U.S. 349, reh’g denied 436 U.S. 951 (1978), on
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remand Sparkman v. McFarlin, 601 F.2d 261 (7th Cir. 1979) the Court stated the standard for
determining whether an act isjudicid:
The relevant cases demondirate that the factors determining whether an act isa “judicd”

onerelateto the nature of the act itsdlf, i.e,, whether it isafunction normally performed
by ajudge, and to the expectations of the parties, i.e., whether they dealt with the judge

inhisjudicid capacity.
Id. at 362.

In this case, the act on which Davis bases his Section 1983 claim againgt Judge Weatherford is
Weatherford’ srefusal to replace Bright with another court appointed attorney. Under Stump, thisact is
clearly judicia. Davis appealed to Judge Westherford, in hisjudicia capacity, with the request that
Wesatherford replace Bright with another attorney. Judge Wesatherford refused that request. Thisisan
act normally performed by ajudge, and immunity isattached toit. Davis’ Section 1983 claim against
Judge Westherford, therefore, isbarred by the doctrine of judicia immunity. Thetria court’ sdismissa
of the clams againgt Judge Wesatherford is affirmed.

Sanders asserts on gpped that the dismissal of Davis' Section 1983 claim againgt him should be
affirmed, based on the doctrine of prosecutoria immunity. The doctrine of prosecutorid immunity, like
the doctrine of judicia immunity, developed at common law to free prosecutors from the threat of
lawsuits based on actions taken in the course of their prosecutorial duties. | mbler v. Pachtman, 424
U.S. 409, 422-23 (1976).

The same public policy consderationsthat lay beneeth the development of the doctrine of
judicid immunity gaveriseto the development of the doctrine of prosecutoria immunity:

The common-law immunity of a prosecutor is based upon the same considerations that

underlie the common-law immunities of judges and grant jurors acting within the scope

of their duties. These include concern that harassment by unfounded litigation would

cause a deflection of the prosecutor’ s energies from his public duties, and the possibility

that he would shade his decisonsingtead of exercising the independence of judgment

required by public trust.

Id. InImbler, the U.S. Supreme Court held that prosecutoriad immunity extends to actions brought

under 42 U.S.C. §1983. “[A] prosecutor enjoys absolute immunity from § 1983 suits for damages

when he actswithin the scope of his prosecutorid duties.” 1d. at 420.
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The only act of Sandersdleged by Davisthat occurred within the one year statute of limitations
was Sanders’ participation in the July 3, 1997, hearing in Judge Wesetherford’ s courtroom. Davis aleges
that Prosecutor Sanders reminded Judge Westherford that Weatherford had aready dismissed, in June
1996, Davis' motion to reopen the post-conviction petition. Sanders’ participation in this hearing was
clearly within the scope of hisrole as prosecutor. Consequently, Davis’ claim againgt Sanders under
Section 1983 is barred by the doctrine of prosecutoria immunity. Thetria court’sdismissd of the
clamsagaing Sandersisaffirmed.

Defendants Bright and Flacy argue that the dismissal of Davis’ cdlaims againgt them should be
affirmed because Davis’ claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is not based on actions they took under color of
date law, which isan essential eement to a Section 1983 claim. In Polk County v. Dodson, 454 U.S.
312, 325 (1981), the United States Supreme Court held that a public defender does not act under
color of state law when representing a defendant in a state crimina proceeding. Inthis case, Davis
bases his claim againgt both Bright and Facy on actionsthat they took while representing him in his post
conviction proceedings. Since those actions are not considered actions taken under color of state law,
Davis cannot make out aviable 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim againgt Bright and Flacy. Inhis
Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Davis argues that Bright and Flacy were
acting under color of state law because they were operating in a conspiracy with Weatherford, Sanders,
and Kelly. Hecites Dennisv. Sparks, 449 U.S. 24 (1980) for the proposition that private actors can
be subject to a Section 1983 claim if involved in a conspiracy with astate actor. However, Davis
makes no specific alegations of fact to support his claim of congpiracy. His conspiracy accusations
consst of mere conclusory alegations, unsupported by any alegations of fact from which areasonable
trier of fact could find anillegal conspiracy. See Smith v. Rose, 760 F.2d 102, 106 (6th Cir.
1985)(citing Place v. Shepherd, 446 F.2d 1239, 1244 (6th Cir. 1971) for proposition that a pleading
containing nothing more than conclusory alegationsisinsufficient to state cause of action under Civil
Rights Act). Therefore, thetria court’ sdecision to grant Bright’sand Flacy’ smoation to dismisswith

regard to thisclam isaffirmed.
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Davis aso sues these Defendants under 42 U.S.C. § 1985, dleging that they engaged ina
conspiracy to deprive him of equa protection of thelaws, motivated by their animustowardshim asa
black man. Claims under this statute must be pleaded with specificity in order to withstand amotion to
digmiss Martin v. Delaware Law School of Widener Univ., 625 F. Supp. 1288, 1297 (D.C. Cir.

1985), aff’d, 94 F.2d 1384 (3rd Cir. Del. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 966 (1989). The
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plaintiff must support his alegations of conspiracy and race or class-based discrimination by specific
facts; he cannot smply rely on conclusory dlegationsin hiscomplaint. Id.

Inthis case, the only act that Davis dlegesthat could conceivably support an alegation of
class-based discriminatory animus was Sanders’ aleged discriminatory remarks during Davis's 1982
murder trid. Thisoccurred well beyond the one-year Satute of limitations for suits brought under the
federd civil rights statutes. Davis alleges no act that occurred within one year prior to the July 14, 1997
filing of hiscivil rights complaint that shows elther race-based animus on the part of these defendants, or
the existence of aconspiracy. Therefore, Davis's complaint failsto stateaclaim under 42 U.S.C. §
1985, and thetria court’sdismissd of Davis’ clams againgt these defendantsis affirmed.

Davisadso appealsthetrid court’ sgrant of summary judgment in favor of Maury County Court
Clerk Kathy Kelly, arguing that the trid court erred in granting her motion because Kelly did not provide
a separate concise satement of the disputed facts and did not indicate any persona knowledge of the
action, and because he had presented affirmative evidence to support his clams and establish the
existence of adisputed issue of materid fact.

Davisfirg arguesthat thetria court erred in granting Kelly’ smotion for summary judgmernt,
dleging that Kdly failed to comply with Rule 56.03 of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure, requiring
that each motion for summary judgment be accompanied by a separate concise stlatement of the
undisputed materia facts. However, Davis pointsto no placein the record in which thisissue was raised
tothetrid court. “Itiswell settled that issues not presented &t trial cannot beraised for thefirst timeon
gpped.” Landry v. Dood, 936 S.W.2d 635, 637 (Tenn. App. 1996). Moreover, Kelly’smotion was
in substantial compliance with Rule 56.03 of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure. Thisissueis
without merit.

Davis next arguesthat thetrid court erred in granting Kelly’ s motion because her affidavit did
not indicate that she had any persona knowledge of the alleged action. In Kdly’ saffidavit, she
concedesthat she did not mail acopy of any order of dismissa to Davis, but atesthat, according to

established routine, sherelied on Sanders’ signed certificate of service as proof that a copy of the 1996
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order of dismissa had in fact been sent to Davis. She further stated that, at that time, an order had not
yet been entered from the July 3, 1997 hearing. She denied having tampered with any court documents,
or having conspired with anyoneto discriminate againg Davis. Kdly’ s statementsindicate persond
knowledge of the materid facts. Thisissueiswithout merit.

Ladtly, Davisarguesthat thetria court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Kely
because he had presented sufficient evidence to establish the existence of agenuineissue of materid fact.

A motion for summary judgment should be granted when the movant demongirates that there are
no genuineissues of materid fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as amatter of law.
Tenn. R. Civ. P. 56.04. The party moving for summary judgment bears the burden of demongtrating
that no genuineissue of materid fact exists. Bain v. Wells, 936 SW.2d 618, 622 (Tenn. 1997). Ona
motion for summary judgment, the court must take the strongest legitimate view of the evidencein favor
of the nonmoving party, dlow dl reasonable inferencesin favor of that party, and discard all
countervaling evidence. 1d. In Byrd v. Hall, 847 S\W.2d 208 (Tenn. 1993), our Supreme Court
Sated:

Onceit isshown by the moving party that there is no genuine issue of materid fact, the

nonmoving party must then demondirate, by affidavits or discovery materias, thet there

isagenuine, materid fact dispute to warrant atrid. Inthisregard, Rule 56.05 [now

Rule 56.06] providesthat the nonmoving party cannot smply rely upon his pleadings but

must set forth specific facts showing that thereisagenuineissue of materia fact for trid.

Id. at 211 (citations omitted) (emphasisin origind).

Inthis case, Kelly submitted an affidavit establishing the pertinent facts. Daviswas then required
to demondtrate, by affidavits or discovery, that there was a genuine dispute regarding these facts. He
faled to do so. Therefore, thetrial court’ sdecision to grant Kelly’ smotion for summary judgment is
affirmed.

The decison of thetrid court isaffirmed. Cogts are assessed against Appellant, for which

execution may issueif necessary.

HOLLY KIRBY LILLARD, J.
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CONCUR:

W. FRANK CRAWFORD, P.J.,,W.S.

ALAN E. HIGHERS, J.
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